
 
 

 
 

CABINET MEMBER SIGNING 
 

Friday, 18th March, 2022, 12.00 pm 
 
Members: Councillor Zena Brabazon – Cabinet Member for Early Years, Children, 
and Families 

 
 
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

 
To receive any apologies for absence. 
 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 
A member with a disclosable pecuniary interest or a prejudicial interest in a 
matter who attends a meeting of the authority at which the matter is 
considered: 
 
(i) must disclose the interest at the start of the meeting or when the interest 
becomes apparent, and 
(ii) may not participate in any discussion or vote on the matter and must 
withdraw from the meeting room. 
 
A member who discloses at a meeting a disclosable pecuniary interest which 
is not registered in the Register of Members’ Interests or the subject of a 
pending notification must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest within 28 
days of the disclosure. 
 
Disclosable pecuniary interests, personal interests and prejudicial interests 
are defined at Paragraphs 5-7 and Appendix A of the Members’ Code of 
Conduct 
 

3. ANNUAL CHILDCARE SUFFICIENCY REPORT  (PAGES 1 - 22) 
 
 

 
Fiona Rae, Acting Committees Manager 
Tel – 020 8489 3541 
Email: fiona.rae@haringey.gov.uk 
 
Fiona Alderman 
Head of Legal & Governance (Monitoring Officer) 
George Meehan House, 294 High Road, Wood Green, N22 8JZ 
 
Thursday, 10 March 2022 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Page 1 of 5  

Report for:  Cabinet Member Signing – 18 March 2022  
 
Title:  Annual Childcare Sufficiency Report  
 
Report  
authorised by:  Charlotte Pomery, Assistant Director for Commissioning  
 
Lead Officer:  Christine Yianni, Childcare Commissioning Manager  
 
Ward(s) affected: All 
 
Report for Key/  
Non Key Decision: Non Key Decision 
 
 
1 Describe the issue under consideration 

 
1.1 The Childcare Act 2006, and Early Education and Childcare statutory guidance, 

gives local authorities a duty to secure, so far as is reasonably practicable, 
childcare provision for children aged 0-14 and up to 18 for disabled children.  
The provision should be sufficient to meet the requirements of parents/carers to 
enable them to work or undertake education or training leading to work, and for 
their child to access their free entitlement place. 
 

1.2 Section 6 of the Childcare Act 2006 and statutory guidance states that there 
should be an annual report ‘to elected council members on how they are 
meeting their duty to secure sufficient childcare and make this report available 
and accessible to parents’ .  We have prepared the Annual Childcare 
Sufficiency Report to support this duty. 
 

1.3 The report outlines childcare supply and demand progress since 2020, identifies 
key findings relating to childcare sufficiency during 2021 and provides key 
challenges and improvement actions for 2022. 

 
2 Cabinet Member Introduction  

 
2.1     Not applicable 
 
3 Recommendations  

 
The Cabinet Member is asked: 
 

3.1 To approve the Annual Childcare Sufficiency Report 2020-2021, as set out in 
Appendix 1, and to agree to its publication on the Council’s website. 

 
4 Reasons for decision  

 
4.1 The reason for the recommendation is that a decision to approve the proposed 

Annual Childcare Sufficiency Report 2020 (Appendix 1), will ensure that the 
Council is fulfilling its statutory duty, under the Childcare Act 2006 
 

Page 1 Agenda Item 3



 

Page 2 of 5  

4.2 In addition, the Annual Childcare Sufficiency Report will provide an updated 
representation of Haringey’s childcare market, enabling the Council to develop  
childcare plans to support the market and maximise childcare participation in 
the future.   

 
5 Alternative options considered 

 
5.1 The requirement to complete an Annual Childcare Sufficiency Report is part of 

the statutory requirement placed on the Council by the Childcare Act 2006.   
 
6 Background information 

 

6.1 Section 6 of the Childcare Act 2006 places a duty on local authorities to ensure 

there is sufficient childcare to meet the needs of parents who require childcare 

for them to work or undertake education or training to obtain work. The 

Council’s role, under the Act is to retain an overview of the market and facilitate 

the childcare market in Haringey to: 

 

 Deliver childcare that is available, accessible, and affordable so that 

parents have the opportunity to use childcare in their area. 

 Deliver good quality childcare, that is beneficial to children. 

 Offer choice to parents so they can access childcare that best meets 

their needs.  

6.2 In Haringey families have access to high quality early years provision, 99% of 
childcare providers are rated as good or outstanding by Ofsted. 
 

6.3 There are currently 413 childcare settings, comprising 170 Childminders, 133 
day nurseries, 11 preschools and 99 breakfast/afterschool and holiday clubs. 
 

6.4 There are 4,891 childcare places available for children aged 0-5 years in 
Haringey. 
 

6.5 The take up of funded early education places remains a priority to improve 
outcomes for all children – making sure gaps in attainment, access, and 
outcomes for the most disadvantaged groups of children are minimised. 
 

6.6 Due to the ongoing pandemic providers in Haringey have seen a decrease in  
demand.  This reduction in demand appeared to generally be due to families 
needing less childcare as they temporarily or permanently stopped working. 
Also evident was an impact from parents and carers working from home, 
reduced working hours and income, as well as a reluctance to use childcare 
because of the risk of the spread of the virus. 
 

6.7 The overall decline in the demand for places and consequent vacant places has 
presented a challenge to childcare providers.  The Council is monitoring the 
supply of childcare, engaging with providers, parents and carers, and gaining 
regular feedback to assist the Council to maintain a picture of the demand for 
childcare and support childcare businesses.  
 

Page 2



 

Page 3 of 5  

6.8 Between November 2020 and November 2021, a total of 2 settings closed 
depleting 42 childcare places and two opened, creating 89 childcare places. 
 

6.9 The Annual Childcare Sufficiency Report notes changes in the childcare market 
which has presented challenges to all types of providers and the various factors 
influencing the childcare market are explored throughout the report. 

 
7 Contribution to strategic outcomes 

 
The Annual Childcare Sufficiency Report contributes to the delivery of the 
Haringey Borough Plan (2019-23) and notably Priority 2, ‘a Haringey where 
strong families, strong networks and strong communities nurture all residents to 
live well and achieve their potential’ and where three identified outcomes are: 
 

 Outcome 4 
Best Start in Life: the first few years of every child’s life will give them the 
long-term foundations to thrive  

 Outcome 5 
Happy Childhood: all children across the borough will be happy and 
healthy as they grow up, feeling safe and secure in their family and in our 
community 

 Outcome 6 
Every young person, whatever their background, has a pathway to 
success for the future 

 
8 Statutory Officers comments (Director of Finance (procurement), Head of 

Legal and Governance, Equalities) 
 

8.1 Finance  
 

8.1.1 This report is for noting by Cabinet and does not contain any financial 
implications 
 

8.2 Procurement 
 

8.2.1 The contents of the report are noted. Strategic Procurement will support 
commissioning with market development and tender activities when 
appropriate. 
 

8.3 Legal 
 

8.3.1 Under Section 6 of the Childcare Act 2006 (Duty to secure sufficient 
childcare for working parents) the Council is under a duty to secure sufficient 
childcare, so far as is reasonably practicable, for working parents, or parents 
who are studying or training for employment, for children aged 0-14 (or up to 18 
for disabled children). In determining whether the provision of childcare is 
sufficient to meet these requirements, the Council – (a) must have regard to the 
needs of parents in their area for – (i) the provision of childcare in respect of 
which the child care element of working tax credit is payable, (ii) the provision of 
childcare in respect of which an amount in respect of childcare costs may be 
included under section 12 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012 in the calculation of 

Page 3



 

Page 4 of 5  

an award of universal credit, and (iii) the provision of childcare which is suitable 
for disabled children, and (b) may have regard to any childcare which they 
expect to be available outside their area. 
 

8.3.2 The Department for Education has issued statutory guidance to local authorities 
titled ‘Early Education and Childcare’ (June 2018) which the Council is obliged 
to have regard to. The guidance provides a list of matters that local authorities 
should take into account to secure sufficient child care places.  
They include the following:    
 

a) the state of the local childcare market, including the demand for specific types of 
providers in a particular locality and the amount and type of supply that currently 
exists;  

b) the state of the local labour market including the sufficiency of the local childcare 
workforce;  

c) the quality and capacity of childcare providers and childminders registered with a 
childminder agency, including their funding, staff, premises, experience and 
expertise;  

d) should encourage schools in their area to offer childcare from 8.00am until 6.00pm 
and in school holidays;  

e) should encourage existing providers to expand their provision and new providers to 
enter the local childcare market if needed.  

f) should encourage providers to take a sustainable business approach to planning 
and signpost providers to resources to support them.  

 
8.3.3 The guidance further provides for annual report to elected members on how the 

duty to secure sufficient childcare is being met. The report should include:  
 

a) a specific reference to how they are ensuring there is sufficient childcare available 
to meet the needs of: children with special educational needs and disabilities; 
children from families in receipt of the childcare element of Working Tax Credit or 
Universal Credit; children with parents who work irregular hours; children aged two, 
three and four taking up free places; school age children; and children needing 
holiday care; 

 
b) information about the current and projected supply and demand of childcare for 

particular age ranges of children, and the affordability, accessibility and quality of 
provision; and  

 
c) details of how any gaps in childcare provision will be addressed.  

 
8.4 Equality 
 
8.4.1 The Council has a Public Sector Equality Duty under the Equality Act (2010) to 
have due regard to the need to:  

 

 Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct 
prohibited under the Act  

 

  Advance equality of opportunity between people who share those protected 
characteristics and people who do not  

 

Page 4



 

Page 5 of 5  

 Foster good relations between people who share those characteristics and people 
who do not.   

 
8.4.2 The three parts of the duty applies to the following protected characteristics: age, 
disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy/maternity, race, religion/faith, sex and 
sexual orientation. Marriage and civil partnership status applies to the first part of the 
duty.  

 
8.4.3 This paper asks Cabinet to note the 2021 Annual Childcare Sufficiency Report. 
The requirement to complete an Annual Childcare Sufficiency Report is part of the 
statutory requirement placed on the Council by the Childcare Act 2006.    
 
8.4.7 The Childcare Act 2006 places a duty on local authorities to make sure that there 
are enough childcare places within its locality for working parents or for parents who 
are studying or training for employment, for children aged 0 to 14 (or up to 18 for 
children with disabilities and/or additional needs). It will support the Council to meet its 
equalities duties and address any gaps in provision through the Childcare Sufficiency 
Action plan.  

 
8.4.8 Providing good quality childcare is an important part of the Council’s equalities 
agenda, with positive implications for children and young people, parents, especially 
single mothers, and children and young people with disabilities. The Annual Report 
describes the existing provision across Haringey, and through the action plan sets out 
how the Council will seek to improve access and uptake of childcare provision. Due 
regard has been shown to equalities issues through the report, notably the 
advancement of equality of opportunity. 
 
9 Use of Appendices 

 
Appendix 1 – Annual Childcare Sufficiency Report 2021 

 
10 Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  

 
Not applicable. 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

 

 

 

Childcare Sufficiency Annual Report:  2020 to 2021 

 

1. Introduction  

 

1.1 The Childcare Sufficiency Annual report is an annual statement on childcare 

supply and demand in Haringey over a 12-month period. This summary report 

is intended to inform elected council members about how the borough’s 

childcare market has changed during the year since the previous annual 

report. The Childcare Act 2006 requires annual reports to be produced, 

following the publication of Haringey Council’s Childcare Sufficiency 

Assessment and 2019-2022 Action Plan, in November 2019. 

 

1.2 The Childcare Act 2006 requires annual reports to be produced, following the 

publication of Haringey Council’s Childcare Sufficiency Assessment and 2019-

2022 Action Plan, in November 2019. 

 

1.3 Section 6 of the Childcare Act 2006 places a duty on local authorities to 

ensure there is sufficient childcare to meet the needs of parents who require 

childcare for them to work or undertake education or training to obtain work. 

The Council’s role, under the Act is to retain an overview of the market and 

facilitate the childcare market in Haringey to: 

 

 Deliver childcare that is available, accessible and affordable so that 

parents have the opportunity to use childcare in their area. 

 Deliver good quality childcare, that is beneficial to children. 

 Offer choice to parents so they can access childcare that best meets 

their needs.  

 

1.4 Childcare is defined in Section 18 of the Childcare Act 2006 as any form of 

care for a child and includes education for a child and any other supervised 

activity. In this report, early education and childcare refers to the full range of 

provision on offer for 0–14-year-olds (up to 18 years for children with special 

educational needs and/or a disability). 

 

1.5 In Haringey, childcare continues to play a fundamental role in meeting a range 
of key council objectives, and particularly in: 
 

Page 7



 

2 
 

 Improving outcomes for all children – making sure gaps in attainment, 
access, and outcomes for the most disadvantaged groups of children 
are minimised 

 Making available affordable and accessible childcare – supporting 
employment and pathways into employment for all residents  

 Creating community capacity – growing community wealth through a 
localised offer meeting a range of local needs 

 Building inclusive neighbourhoods – offering children and families with 
emerging developmental, disability and special educational needs 
support and respite 

 
1.5  The current pandemic has only served to highlight the fundamental role early 

education and childcare plays in the development of happy, healthy children, 
in improving prospects for working parents and carers and in nurturing the 
ability for communities and society to function well collectively, both socially 
and economically.  
 

1.6 This Childcare Sufficiency Annual Report covers the period November 2020 to 

November 2021. 

 

2 Scope of the Annual Report  

2.1  Statutory guidance states that Childcare Sufficiency Assessment report 

should include information about the current and projected supply and 

demand of childcare, including specific reference to how local authorities are 

ensuring there is sufficient childcare available to meet the needs of: 

 Children with special educational needs and disabilities 

 Children from families in receipt of Universal Credit 

 Children with parents who work irregular hours 

 Children aged two, three and four taking up funded places 

 School age children 

 Children needing holiday care 

 Details of how any gaps in provision will be addressed 

 

2.2  This report includes data and observations collected from within the childcare 

market. 

 

3 Reporting Period - Context 

3.1  Market Conditions in Haringey 

3.1.1 Haringey is marked by significant inequalities. Deprivation levels are high 

particularly in the North and East and in pockets across the borough, there are 

areas of great affluence and wealth. Northumberland Park and White Hart 

Page 8



 

3 
 

Lane are the two most deprived wards in Haringey, with Northumberland Park 

being the most deprived ward in London, and White Hart Lane the 4th.  

3.1.2  The ward with the most low-income households in Haringey is 

Northumberland Park and 7,317 (32%) of low-income households across the 

borough are households with children who are in poverty, while Seven Sisters 

has the highest at 48%. The proportion of households in fuel poverty are 

highest in the east of the borough.   

3.1.3  One in three Haringey pupils are eligible for and claiming free school meals 

(30.1%). This is significantly above the London average (17.1%). The % of 

children reaching the expected Good Level of Development at the end of 

Reception is 75% (2019) which is higher than the national average, yet the 

overall figure of 74.6% children achieving a good level of development masks 

a gap between boys ((68/4% and girls 80.9%) and between different 

communities (Black Caribbean 60.5%, Kurdish 50% and Turkish Cypriot 

57.7%.  

3.2 Global Pandemic – COVID 19 

3.2.1 The period under review places childcare sufficiency within the context of the 

ongoing Coronavirus global pandemic. Across 2020-21, the pandemic had a 

significant impact on the childcare market. Its effect on childcare providers 

and families created high levels of uncertainty within the childcare market 

because of the various tiers of national restrictions across the 12 months and 

changing patterns of behaviour and employment amongst childcare providers 

and parents and carers.   

3.2.2  Measures such as lockdown, working from home and furlough schemes 

fuelled changing demand for childcare, the scale and duration of which was 

highly unpredictable. 

3.2.3 Haringey’s early education and childcare sector felt the impact of the COVID 
pandemic acutely but continued to work hard to maintain its ability to deliver 
early education and childcare in a consistent and sustainable way. Many 
providers transitioned to social distancing, new working practices and service 
delivery models, whilst managing the anxieties and expectations of 
parents/carers and staff.   

 

4. Summary Findings 

 

4.1 Supply of Early Education and Childcare Provision 

4.1.1 During 2020-21, the supply of early education and childcare has proved to be 

resilient. Closure remained low, with only 3 settings recorded as having 

closed because of the pandemic. The settings profile and number by the end 

of the review period is set out in the table below. 

Table 1: Early Education and Childcare in Haringey 

Page 9



 

4 
 

  

Type of provision Number  

Childminding 170 

Day nursery 72 

Pre-school 11 

Maintained nursery class 46 

Maintained nursery school 3 

Children’s centre day nursery 4 

Nursery unit independent school 8 

After school club 43 

Breakfast club 39 

Holiday club 17 

Overall* 413 

*Number of registered settings with Ofsted April 2021 

 

4.1.2 Within the reporting period the number of Childminders in Haringey has fallen 

slightly (6%) reducing 54 childcare places and nationally the number 

registered with Ofsted has continued to decrease. There has been an 

increase in registered Day Nurseries by two creating 89 childcare places and 

a decrease by two Pre-schools depleting 42 childcare places.  

4.1.3 A stocktake exercise undertaken in 2021, gathered feedback from providers 

within the early education and childcare market. The summarised feedback 

below provides some insight into market conditions. 

 Providers reported: 

• increases in running costs. 

• Some providers, particularly in the west of the borough, deterred from 
offering 2-year-old places due to the funding rate being below costs. 

• Some childminders and maintained nurseries reported experiencing a drop 
in take up of the 3- and 4-year-old entitlement. 

• Increases in the number of children presenting with additional needs. 

• Ongoing concerns over workforce recruitment, retaining staff and 
maintaining adequate staffing levels, funding. 

 

4.1.4 Particularly enquiry about the impact of the pandemic on operations, 

generated the following information.  

Page 10



 

5 
 

• Demand - Some Private Day nurseries reported an increase in demand.  A 

lower level of demand was reported overall across early years and childcare 

settings. Decrease in demand overall for paid for hours. 

• Evidence of general uncertainty in the market for future demand. 

• 5.8% of providers have had to make changes to delivery model i.e. shorter 

days, fewer hours, some childminders and day nurseries offered more places. 

• Vacancy levels - highest amongst childminders and school-based provision. 

• Staffing changes – 45 staff furloughed, 22 staff made redundant, 17 settings 

considered further redundancies. 

• Concerns about sustainability, In term of finances -  

• 22% lacked confidence in financial sustainability – highest amongst 

childminders. 

• 39% projected income insufficient to meet costs – highest in day 

nurseries and school-based nurseries. 

• Reliance for paid for hours was highest amongst childminders and out 

of school provision. 

• Reliance of a mixed profile of income was most apparent amongst 

private day nurseries, with the most typical income split being 

approximately 44% income from funded free entitlement places and 

56% income from fees. 

• 29% of settings had cash reserves, with highest rate being amongst 

preschool settings types. 

• 60% of all providers had applied for at least one form of government 

support. 

• 71% of providers expressed business confidence in their financial 

sustainability over the next 6 months period. 

 

4.2 Quality of the provision  

4.2.1 The quality of the supply remained above national average with 99% of early 
years provision in Haringey judged as good or outstanding by Ofsted. 

Table 2: Ofsted data for % of settings which are ‘good’ or better: 

 % of settings ‘Good’ or ‘Outstanding’  

Date Childminders PVIs CCs with childcare All settings 

Dec-20 100% 97% 100% 99% 

Mar-21 100% 97% 100% 99% 

Page 11



 

6 
 

Jun-21 100% 98% 100% 99% 

 

4.3  Demand for Early Education and Childcare 

4.3.1 Haringey has a population of 51,588 0- to 14-year-olds1, representing 19% of 
the resident population with the highest number of resident children live in the 
northeast of the borough. 

 
4.3.2 Population profiles remains diverse in the borough, although significant 

differences can be seen in some wards. 
 
 

  

4.3.3 Population 0-4yrs 

  

The most highly populated wards are in the east of the borough, with 

Northumberland Park and Seven Sisters wards being the most populated. 

Table 3: 0-5 Population by Ward 

Ward 0 yrs 1 yrs 2 yrs 3 yrs 4 yrs 

Under 
5yrs 
Total 

Under 5yrs 
% of 

population 

Alexandra 130 139 129 154 197 749 6.54% 

Bounds 
Green 194 212 214 189 184 993 

6.66% 

Bruce 
Grove 194 186 176 192 190 938 6.38% 

Crouch End 162 169 159 162 154 806 6.68% 

Fortis 
Green 145 163 138 190 173 809 6.45% 

Harringay 190 174 186 187 173 910 6.40% 

Highgate 124 136 134 142 133 669 6.33% 

Hornsey 201 200 202 172 176 951 7.28% 

                                                           
1 Source: office of national statistics 2017 

30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic Population %

Page 12



 

7 
 

Muswell Hill 106 95 103 134 127 565 5.35% 

Noel Park 173 166 176 160 177 852 5.70% 

Northumber
land Park 270 281 288 263 287 1,389 8.45% 

Seven 
Sisters 288 306 313 335 292 1,534 8.62% 

St Ann's 193 211 179 214 173 970 6.12% 

Stroud 
Green 149 158 142 120 122 691 6.17% 

Tottenham 
Green 207 251 203 209 215 1,085 6.57% 

Tottenham 
Hale 237 252 244 256 258 1,247 6.48% 

West Green 172 163 162 173 183 853 6.35% 

White Hart 
Lane 157 174 175 181 181 868 6.57% 

Woodside 231 217 191 213 222 1,074 6.73% 

 
Source: 2019 Mid Year Estimates (Published: June 2020 ONS) 

 

4.3.4 Projected Population 0-4yrs  

 

GLA population projections show a small increase in the 0-4yrs population in 

Haringey over the next few years. 

Table 4:  Haringey Projected 0-4 Population Growth Trend 

2021  2022   2023  2024  2025  2026 2027 

              
17,845  

              
17,907  

              
18,007  

              
18,095  

              
18,176  

           
18,250  

           
18,318  

 

Source: GLA Central Trend 2017 Base 

 

4.3.5 Providers in Haringey saw a decrease in demand for childcare influenced and 
shaped by families changing needs and pandemic anxieties.  This was 
mirrored nationally amongst providers. This reduction in demand appeared to 
generally be due to families needing less childcare as they temporarily or 
permanently stopped working. Also evident was an impact from parents and 
carers working from home, reduced working hours and income, as well as a 
reluctance to use childcare because of the risk of the spread of the virus. 

4.3.6  Across the review period, the market changed constantly and demand for 
childcare fluctuated according to family circumstance, including financial and 
employment changes.  

4.4 Supply of Early Education and Childcare  

Page 13



 

8 
 

4.4.1  Across 2020-21, the supply of childcare fluctuated due to staffing changes, 
self-isolation requirements, financial sustainability, and premises 
restrictions because of the pandemic.   

4.4.2 The most significant gaps lay in the supply of wraparound provision, including 
provision for families of children and young people with SEND for the 5-to-11-
year age range. 

 before school  
 after school  
 during school holidays  

Table 5:  Number of out of school providers registered with Ofsted by age 

range: 

Age 
Range 

0 to 4 
years 

5 to 9 
years 

10 to 14 
years 

15 to 18 
years 

Breakfast 
club 

29 18 4 7 

After 
school 
club 

26 16 15 21 

Holiday 
club 

3 7 9 4 

 

4.4.3 Sufficiency data for the 2,3- and 4-year-old Free Early Education entitlement 

is collected on a termly basis and provides an overview of the number of 

places available in early years settings, by ward and the number of vacancies.   

 

5.  Take up of Early Education and Childcare  

5.1 Tables 6 and 7 below show how many of the available early education and 

childcare places were taken up by Autumn 2021. 

 

Table 6: Take of Places by 2 Years Olds 

Provider Ward 
Age 

Group 
% Usage of AM 

places 
% Usage of PM 

places 

Highgate 2 to 3yrs N/A N/A 

Alexandra 2 to 3yrs 100% 100% 

Seven Sisters 2 to 3yrs 93% 90% 

Stroud Green 2 to 3yrs 92% 92% 

Crouch End 2 to 3yrs 88% 74% 

Harringay 2 to 3yrs 59% 59% 

Page 14



 

9 
 

St Ann's 2 to 3yrs 34% 34% 

Tottenham Green 2 to 3yrs 74% 32% 

Tottenham Hale 2 to 3yrs 60% 59% 

Northumberland 
Park 

2 to 3yrs 73% 58% 

West Green 2 to 3yrs 56% 55% 

Bruce Grove 2 to 3yrs 25% 24% 

Hornsey 2 to 3yrs 79% 75% 

Noel Park 2 to 3yrs 63% 57% 

Woodside 2 to 3yrs 62% 62% 

Muswell Hill 2 to 3yrs 86% 75% 

White Hart Lane 2 to 3yrs 72% 58% 

Bounds Green 2 to 3yrs 44% 38% 

Fortis Green 2 to 3yrs 57% 49% 

 

Table 7: Take of Places by 3- and 4-Year-Olds 

 

Provider Ward 
Age 

Group 
% Usage of AM 

places 
% Usage of PM 

places 

Alexandra 3 to 4yrs 99% 96% 

Bounds Green 3 to 4yrs 38% 31% 

Bruce Grove 3 to 4yrs 50% 47% 

Crouch End 3 to 4yrs 84% 76% 

Fortis Green 3 to 4yrs 65% 58% 

Harringay 3 to 4yrs 83% 78% 

Highgate 3 to 4yrs 100% 97% 

Hornsey 3 to 4yrs 89% 86% 

Muswell Hill 3 to 4yrs 89% 90% 

Noel Park 3 to 4yrs 61% 47% 

Northumberland 
Park 

3 to 4yrs 
76% 66% 

Seven Sisters 3 to 4yrs 61% 67% 

St Ann's 3 to 4yrs 57% 51% 

Stroud Green 3 to 4yrs 61% 54% 

Tottenham Green 3 to 4yrs 33% 27% 

Tottenham Hale 3 to 4yrs 59% 55% 

West Green 3 to 4yrs 78% 79% 

White Hart Lane 3 to 4yrs 82% 72% 

Woodside 3 to 4yrs 66% 61% 

 

 

Page 15



 

10 
 

5.2 In general, participation in early education and childcare amongst our younger 

populations of children experienced a dip across the review period. The chart 

below at Figure 1 shows the changes to patterns of participation for 3- and 4-

year-olds accessing the universal free entitlement offer, those 3- and 4-year-

olds accessing additional hours, as part of the extended 30-hour offer, and for 

eligible two-year-olds accessing the free two-year-old entitlement.  

 

Figure 1: 2020-21 Free Entitlement Participation Trend 

 

 

 
5.3  Across the 2-, 3- and 4-year-old entitlements, wards in the east of the borough 

have a significantly greater number of ‘potentially’ eligible families compared 
to those in the west of the borough. Seven Sisters and Northumberland 
Park wards consistently record more than 150 families, whereas numbers for 
Muswell Hill, Alexandra and Highgate wards are far lower.  

  
Our data also highlights particularly low participation numbers within Seven 
Sisters ward, where there is a high number of potentially eligible families, but 
few ‘take up’ the entitlement. This is evident across the 2,3 and 4 year old 
offers. This might be explained by the large proportion of Orthodox Jewish 
families who are potentially eligible for the entitlement but may be engaging 
with culturally appropriate local services, outside of the borough. 

 
 
 
6.  Sufficiency of provision for children from families in receipt of the 

childcare element of Working Tax Credit or Universal Credit 

6.1 Haringey Council works with early years and childcare providers, and key 
partners, to ensure that there is sufficient provision to meet the needs of all 
families including those in receipt of the childcare element of the Working Tax 
Credit and welfare reforms. 

 

3,901

1,200
687

3,898

1,303
733

3,798

1,258
701

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

Universal 3 & 4 YO Add. 3 & 4 YO 2YO

Haringey Early Years Pupil Count  Trend in 2020-2021

Dec. 19 count Jul. 20 mid year adj. Count Nov. 21 final Count

Page 16



 

11 
 

6.2  The borough currently has sufficient places to meet the needs of families who 

qualify for free early education. Eligible families are supported to apply for 

two-year-old funding through Children’s Centres, health, social care, 

community, and employment partners.  In addition, a childcare brokerage 

offer is in place for families who have difficulty in finding a place or need 

support and advice to find the most suitable childcare for their needs. 

 

7.  Sufficiency of provision for children with special educational needs and 

disabilities 

7.1  The provision of appropriate early years and childcare that meets the needs of 

children with special educational needs and, or disability (SEND) continues to 

be of high importance in Haringey. Haringey’s populations of children and 

young people with SEND continue to increase and improving access to high 

quality provision that meets the diverse needs of children and young people 

with SEND and their families proved particularly challenging during this 

reporting period.  

7.2  Figure 2. shows the number of children and young people with Education, 

Health and Care Plans (EHCPs).  

 

Figure 2:  Children and Young People (0-25) with EHCPs 

. 

 

 

 

7.3  Ensuring there is an adequate supply of childcare to meet the needs of 

working parents and carers of children and young people with special 

educational needs and disabilities continues to be a priority for childcare 

sufficiency planning.  

7.4 Existing gaps in the availability of suitable provision for children, young 

people, parents, and carers widened during the 2020-21 period because of 

Page 17



 

12 
 

the pandemic. There continued to be a lack of sufficient, affordable provision 

for children and young people. Current work to address sufficiency gaps 

includes a priority focus on working with the childcare market to deliver after-

school, weekend and holiday provision for children and young people, 

particularly for children aged 5 – 8 years with SEND. 

7.5  In Haringey, our SEND Local offer for children aged 5 to 25 years supports 

those with additional and complex needs. In early education and childcare, 

Inclusion funding continues to be available to support 2-, 3- and 4-year-olds 

with SEN in nursery provision.  This continues to have a positive impact on 

the proportion of young children with SEND accessing early education and 

childcare. 

 

 

 

7.6  Additionally, disability access funding was available to support the access 

needs of 3- and 4-year-old children attracting Disability Living Allowance 

(DLA).  The 2020-21 period saw a decline in the number of children supported 

by DAF funding. This is believed to be a consequence of the pandemic on 

parental confidence and access to support with DLA applications.  

 

7.7  Haringey maintained a higher percentage of two-year olds with SEN 
accessing the early years (funded) entitlement, compared to the averages 
across London and England.  

  
Figure 3: Levels of Free Entitlement Participation by 2-year-olds by Ward. 

 

Page 18



 

13 
 

 
Source: Haringey Inclusion Service, Oct 2020   

 
7.7  For three- and four-year-olds, participation by children with SEN was highest 

in the east of the borough.  
 

Figure 4:  Levels of Free Entitlement Participation by 3- and 4-year-olds by 

Ward. 

 

 
Source: Haringey Inclusion Service, Oct 2020   

 

8.  Sufficiency of provision for childcare requiring out of school provision 

and holiday care 

8.1  In addition to childminders and group providers who operate all year round, 
there are several clubs and groups in Haringey operating in the school 
holidays and providing before- and after-school activities and care. 

Page 19



 

14 
 

 
 Table 8: 
 

Number of registered out-
of-school and holiday care 
providers*  

2020 2021 

All providers 148 159 

   
*Source: Synergy database 2021 

 

 

8.2  At the beginning of the 2020-21 period there were 148 known (registered) out-
of-school and holiday clubs in Haringey. Throughout the review period, work 
was undertaken to engage with the out of school and holiday sector and build 
an improved network of provision. By late 2021, there was an increase of 11 
in the number of provisions in the borough.  

 
8.3  Many schools in Haringey continue to offer breakfast and / or after-school 

clubs, extending the availability of childcare here. Many will also host holiday 
activities and sports clubs. School provision plays and important role in the 
overall sufficiency picture and continuing to work with all phases of schools to 
maximise provision remains key. Given the fact that provision delivered by 
schools does not require separate Ofsted registration, schools are a key 
partner for the Council to work with as we seek to address sufficiency gaps.   

 
8.4 During the lockdown period and the initial period emerging out of lockdown in 

mid-2020, out-of-school and holiday care providers faced significant 
restrictions to reopening. This had an impact on viability and sustainability of 
for some providers and limited the availability of childcare for parents and 
carers, particularly those considered critical workers. 

 
    

9.  Sufficiency of provision for children with parents who work irregular 

hours 

9.1  An important aspect of sufficiency is understanding the needs of parents and 
carers working non-traditional or irregular hours. For these parents and carers 
access to flexible childcare is crucial to maintaining employment and ensuring 
they can access support from registered childcare providers, offering high 
quality care. The number of Haringey Ofsted registered providers offering 
before 8am, after 6pm and weekend care in Haringey is set out in Table 9. 
below: 

 
 Table 9:  
 

 2020 2021 

Number of providers 
open outside standard 
hours before 8am and 

137 100 

Page 20



 

15 
 

after 6pm)- Out-of-hours 
care 

Providers open at 
weekends  

36 48 

*Source: Synergy database 2021 

 

9.2  The number of childminders opening before 8am remained about the same 
from 2020 to 2021 but the number opening after 6pm fell by 13%. More 
providers opened at weekends than did last year. Most of the weekend places 
were offered by childminders and private providers providing a range of 
weekend activities. 

 
10.  Actions to ensure sufficient childcare  
 
10.1  Council activity to support the sufficiency of early years and childcare places 

continued throughout the 2020-21 period.   
 
10.2 Emerging out of the restrictions in place across 2020-21 and the continuation 

of the pandemic means that the close tracking the supply and demand of 
childcare remains an important activity for the Council. Monitoring the supply 
of childcare, including the closure of providers no longer financially viable 
continues as a priority in 2021-22. Engaging with parents and carers and 
gaining regular feedback will assist the Council to maintaining a picture of the 
demand for childcare, as parents’ work patterns continue to evolve and 
change.  

 
10.3  Given the impact on parental confidence across 2020-21, it is necessary to 

continue to promote the early years entitlement offers, the local SEND offer 
and continue to work in partnership with the childcare market to adapt to 
changing needs and ensure there is access to high quality childcare 
information, advice and support for parents and carers. 

 
10.4 An early years review undertaken inn Autumn 2021, established an early 

education and childcare task and finish group, with the intention of: 
o working collaboratively, and in partnership, with the sector and key 

stakeholders to consider how we best meet the early education and 
childcare needs of children, families, and residents. 

o enabling stakeholders to delve more into the detail and understand where 
we are now and what we want to achieve.  

o Developing sets of options that seek to address identified priorities. 
 
10.5  As part of responding to the outcomes of the 2021 Early Years Review, work 

has begun with key stakeholders and partners to develop action plans to 
strengthen the early education and childcare offer within the borough. Initial 
areas of focus emerging from this task and finish work are:  

 

 Narrowing the attainment gap – Boys, Black Caribbean, Turkish Kurdish. 

 Equal access to early education and childcare for children with SEND. 

Page 21



 

16 
 

 Improving early identification and intervention. 

 Increasing take up of the two-year-old free entitlement as an integral part 
of our early intervention approach.  

 Increasing and broadening participation in the 3- and 4-year-old free 
entitlement.  

 Retaining sustainable early education and childcare to meet changing 
demand across the borough in a post pandemic landscape 

 
 
10.5  We believe that these emerging priorities align with the current childcare 

action plan and will form part of the review and refresh of the plan, when 
Haringey’s next full Childcare Sufficiency Assessment exercise is completed 
and reports in Autumn 2022.   

Page 22


	Agenda
	3 Annual Childcare Sufficiency Report
	Appendix 1 - Annual Childcare Sufficiency Report


